Appendix

NOTICE OF VIOLATION

Commonwealth Edison Company Docket No. 50-456
Docket No. 50-457

As a result of the inspection conducted on May 9 through June 21, 1985, and in
accordance with the General Policy and Procedures for NRC Enforcement Actions
(10 CFR Part 2, Appendix C), the following violation was identified:

10 CFR 50, Appendix B, Criterion XIII, states in part, that measures shall
be established to control the storage and preservation of material and
equipment to prevent damage or deterioration. The Commonwealth Edison
Company Quality Assurance Program contains in Quality Requirement (QR)

2.0 a coomitment to Regulatory Guide 1.39, Revision 2.

Regulatory Guide 1.39, Revision 2, endorses the requirements of ANSI
N45.2.3-1973, "Housekeeping During the Construction Phase of Nuclear
Power Plants". ANSI N45.2.3, Section 3.2.1, requires that scrap and
excess materials shall be collected and disposed of in accordance with
specified requirements. Such excess material shall not be allowed to
accumulate and create conditions that will adversely affect quality.

Contrary to the above:

a. Nails, washers, bolts, screws, wire, metal brackets and a grinding
wheel were found in cable trays which had installed cable.

b. The upper cable spreading room was noted as having debris in cable
trays and empty aerosol cans which had contained a highly flammable
liquid.

€. High strength bolting material, (A490 and A325 galvanized bolts,
which cannot be reused per the AISC Code) were found laying in
various work areas of the plant, not controlled or stored in a
material staging area.

This is a Severity Level IV Violation (Supplement I1).

Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, you are required to submit to this
office within thirty days of the date of this Notice a written statement or
explanation in reply, including for each item of noncompliance: (1) corrective
action taken and the results achieved; (2) corrective action to be taken to
avoid further noncompliance; and (3) the date when full compliance will be
achieved. Consideration may be given to extending your response time for good
cause shown,
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